
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

Corporate Parenting Board
24 January 2019

Time 5.30 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Oversight

Venue Committee Room 5 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Paul Sweet (Lab)

Labour Conservative

Cllr Obaida Ahmed
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Welcome Koussoukama
Cllr Peter O'Neill
Cllr Caroline Siarkiewicz
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Martin Waite

Cllr Udey Singh

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic services team:

Contact Shelley Humphries
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 554070 or shelley.humphries@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk
email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 550320

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting - 22 November 2018 (Pages 3 - 10)
[To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the meeting held on 22 
November 2018]

5 Schedule of outstanding matters (Pages 11 - 14)
[To consider and comment on the schedule of outstanding matters]

6 Children in Care Council and Care Leavers' Forum Workshops including 
Total Respect 
[For the Board to participate in workshop-style exercises including Total Respect]

7 Virtual School Head Annual Report 2018 (Pages 15 - 42)
[To receive an update on the educational outcomes of children and young people in 
care in 2018]

8 OFSTED Inspection at Upper Pendeford Farm Short Break Centre December 
2018 (Pages 43 - 52)
[To receive a presentation on the OFSTED inspection of Upper Pendeford Farm]

9 Performance Monitoring Information Report (Pages 53 - 66)
[To consider and comment on the Performance Monitoring Information Report]

10 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
[That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within paragraph 2 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972]

PART 2 - ITEMS NOT OPEN TO THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

11 Councillor Visits to Establishments 
[To receive verbal feedback on any visits to establishments undertaken by 
Councillors since the last meeting]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Corporate Parenting Board
Minutes - 22 November 2018

Attendance
Chair Cllr Paul Sweet (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Obaida Ahmed
Cllr Celia Hibbert

Cllr Peter O'Neill
Cllr Caroline Siarkiewicz

Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Martin Waite

Employees
Emma Bennett Director of Children's Services
Fiona Brennan Designated Nurse, Children and Young People in Care
Nicola Hale Principal Independent Reviewing Officer
Dr Wendy Harrison-Frazer Consultant Counselling Psychologist - Psychology Lead for 

CAMHS
Alison Hinds Head of Children and Young People in Care
Shelley Humphries Democratic Services Officer
Caron Kilworth Senior Social Work Manager
Mandy Lee Safeguarding Manager - Children
Darren Martindale Service Manager: Vulnerable Learners
Joginder Shoker-Kang CAMHS
Alice Vickers Corporate Parenting Officer

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No. Title

1 Apologies for absence (if any)
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Udey Singh.

2 Declarations of interests (if any)
There were no declarations of interest made relative to the items under consideration 
at the meeting.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting - 27 September 2018
Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2018 be confirmed as 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising
In relation to Councillor visits to establishments, it had been requested that a visit be 
arranged for Councillor Martin Waite to visit one of the private residential 
establishments. The Board was advised that Alice Vickers, Corporate Parenting 
Officer had been attempting to contact private establishments in Wolverhampton but 
had not received any response as yet. It was also noted that visits could only be 
arranged for homes where Wolverhampton children were placed. 

In response to a query regarding safeguarding issues in Wolverhampton private 
establishments, it was clarified that the response to any safeguarding incident 
reported in a Wolverhampton private establishment, would be for this Authority to 
immediately investigate the matter. If any child involved had been from a different 
local authority, it was stated that the child’s home authority would be notified. 

In response to a query regarding preventative safeguarding, it was clarified that if a 
child identified as ‘at risk’ had moved to a Wolverhampton private establishment from 
another authority, there would be communication between Wolverhampton Council 
and their home authority. It was noted that the Wolverhampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) would contact the designated nurses for children and 
young people in care to notify that a child identified as ‘at risk’ was moving to the 
area. The child would be made known to the Safeguarding Service in 
Wolverhampton, but the child’s home local authority would be ultimately responsible 
for them.

It was agreed that a report detailing children in care placed by other Local Authorities 
in Wolverhampton and how we safeguard them would be scheduled as a future 
agenda item to include statistics and the Authority’s relationship with them. 

Resolved:
That a safeguarding report outlining statistics and relationships with ‘at risk’ 
children from other local authorities be scheduled for a future Corporate 
Parenting Board meeting.

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5 Schedule of Outstanding Matters
The Chair presented the report on the Schedule of Outstanding Matters previously 
considered by the Board. It was noted that the actions listed had been either 
scheduled on the agenda or had been completed.

Resolved:
That the Schedule of Outstanding Matters report be noted.

6 Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report 2017- 2018
Mandy Lee, Safeguarding Manager - Children presented the Independent Reviewing 
Officer Service Annual Report 2017 – 2018 and highlighted key points. The Board 
was advised that each child or young person was allocated an Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IRO) to review and monitor their individual case. It was 
highlighted that IROs have a quality assurance role in relation social work support to 
children and the findings are regularly reported to senior managers. The report 
informed the Board of the activities of the IROs and outlined case studies to support 
the information.

It was highlighted that the IRO team currently consisted of experienced and 
permanent employees, with no temporary or agency staff and that the timeliness of 
case reviews had improved on last year.

It was noted that the children and young people were encouraged to participate in 
their own case reviews where appropriate and there had been improved use of the 
Mind of My Own (MOMO) website and app. Parental contribution had also been 
encouraged and it was highlighted that a pilot on improving child participation would 
be rolled out next year. 

The IRO team were congratulated on their progress and praised for the stability of 
the team. 

In addition to the information contained within the report, officers responded to the 
following questions:

 In response to a query about IRO and front-line Social Worker relationships it 
was reported that, on the whole, relationships were good and that face-to-face 
communication between them was always encouraged. 

 In relation to a question on emerging safeguarding threats, it was clarified that 
there were struggles with placing children with complex needs and sourcing 
difficult placements.

 In response to a query about involvement in the MOMO platform, it was 
highlighted that MOMO would be part of a menu of choice in which children 
and young people could decide how they preferred to communicate their 
feelings and wishes. Other options, such as the use of video conference 
consultations, were to be explored to offer different ways of encouraging 
participation by making children and young people feel more at ease. 
Feedback was currently awaited from this. 

Resolved:
That the Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report be noted.

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7 Attainment of Children and Young People in Care 2018
Darren Martindale, Service Manager: Vulnerable Learners presented the report for 
Attainment of Children and Young People in Care 2018 and highlighted key points. 
The report contained provisional educational outcomes for children and young 
people in care educated within Wolverhampton and out of City (OOC). It was 
explained that further information would be provided in a report scheduled for the 
next meeting of the Board on 24 January 2019.

The following points within the report were highlighted:

Early Years Foundations Stage (EYFS)
The attainment in this group was reported to be high. It was noted that 70% of 
children and young people in care in Wolverhampton settings and 60% of children 
and young people in care in out-of-City settings had met age-related expectations in 
all areas. Year one phonics was also highlighted as a particularly strong area.

Key Stage 1 
It was highlighted that the ‘in-city’ educated children had performed strongly 
compared with the national average. KS1 were reported to be above the national 
average in mathematics and low in reading. The biggest gap was identified in writing, 
but this was being monitored. 

Key Stage 2 
It was noted that the progress of children and young people in care was positive. In-
city children and young people were reported to be performing better in reading and 
writing than mathematics.

It was highlighted that, in respect of this cohort, 40% of children had an Educational 
Health Care Plan (ECHP) in place. It was considered that each child had made good 
progress from their starting point.

Key Stage 4
It was highlighted that 18.4% of children and young people in care had achieved 
Grade 4 in mathematics and English (equivalent to a C in the old system) which was 
an improvement on last year. 89% of children and young people in care were 
reported to have gained one or more GCSEs at Grade 1 – 9.  

Key Stage 5
It was noted that 69% of pupils had achieved accredited qualifications and it was 
highlighted that one student had gained an A-grade in A Level mathematics.

In addition to the information contained within the report:

 The Board were assured that students were achieving more than one GCSE. 
In respect of students with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), it was 
explained that they may be only just missing out on a GCSE by a few marks 
or they may achieve mathematics and not English, or vice versa.

 In response to a query about the performance of OOC educated children and 
young people and why they were not doing as well, it was clarified that more 
in-depth detail would follow in the January report. It was thought that this was 
because there was a higher level of need than usual for this year’s cohort. The 
Board were advised that children educated out of City were more difficult to Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

work with than in-City, however there had been opportunities to learn how to 
support them better.  

 In response to a query regarding Ofsted, the Board were advised that the 
body did have an interest in the achievements of children and young people in 
care and that this had been picked up at the last inspection. 

 It was noted that Personal Education Plans (PEPs) were being audited for 
quality and that new ways to provide support were being explored constantly. 

 It was highlighted that the KS 5 results were impressive, and it was suggested 
that a member of staff investigate the factors involved for producing good 
results to inform how to improve performance for future cohorts. The 
suggestion was welcomed, and it was agreed that a strength-based model 
was to be explored and that the Aspire to Uni Project data would be shared at 
a future meeting.  

Resolved:
1. That the report on Attainment of Children and Young People in Care 2018 be 

noted.
2. That the Aspire to Uni Project data be shared at a future Corporate Parenting 

Board meeting.

8 Outcome of Care Leavers' Annual Survey
Caron Kilworth, Team Manager presented the Outcome of Care Leavers’ Annual 
Survey and highlighted key points. The report had provided an analysis of the 
responses given by participants of the survey. It was stated that the information 
gathered was intended to inform the priorities of the service and identify actions. It 
was highlighted that the uptake of the survey had decreased by 32 compared to last 
year and that it was important to encourage a higher level of participation.  

It was suggested that a focus group could be set up to look into qualitative research. 
It was agreed that this could be of great value and would be explored.

It was noted that the survey was not the only way of gathering information on the 
view of children and young people in care and that the Care Leavers’ Forum was 
another way they could express views which could help shape the service. 

Whilst there had been hard copies of the survey and a digital version, it was noted 
that there could be a form of incentive offered to encourage more children and young 
people to participate in future surveys. 

It was suggested that Facebook could be a platform on which to publicise the survey, 
making it more noticeable and simpler to complete. It was reported that the number 
of adverts appearing on the Facebook page was being reduced in order for more 
relevant posts to stand out. It was noted that children and young people in care didn’t 
often have continuous access to wi-fi and may not be able to access social media as 
often. It was agreed that a wide range of engagement tools would be explored.

Resolved:
That the report on the Outcome of the Care Leavers’ Annual Survey be noted.

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

9 Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Interim Update
Wendy Harrison-Frazer, Consultant Counselling Psychologist and Psychology Lead 
for CAMHS delivered a verbal presentation providing an update on the activity of 
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). The Board had been 
advised that this was a verbal update and that the full report would be shared jointly 
with the Health report at the March 2019 meeting of the Board. 

It was reported that CAMHS had been undergoing a transformation and it was 
highlighted that the service was looking to streamline the journey of service users. 

It was explained that meetings were held between professionals and young people to 
ascertain the length of time intervention was required or if any was required at all. 

It was noted that it was important to determine if the anxiety had been caused by 
issues within the care system and to address those issues or whether the anxiety 
was within the individual and to provide as much support to them as appropriate. 
This more holistic approach was supported by the Board as it was suggested that a 
child’s reaction to external or environmental circumstances could also be contributing 
factors when experiencing issues.  

It was reported that challenges were faced with resources, however funding was 
slowly being provided. Streamlining had assisted with managing resources.

There had been a rise in referrals of children and young people in care; 2016 – 2017 
had seen 48 referrals and in 2017 – 2018 there had been 106.   Six were currently 
undergoing assessments.

It was highlighted that having the professional meetings at Beldray had seen an 
improvement and that children were able to have earlier intervention if appropriate.  

Resolved:
That the update on Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services be noted.

10 Performance Monitoring Information
Emma Bennett, Director for Children’s Services presented the refreshed 
Performance Monitoring Report and highlighted key points. It was explained that the 
Board could comment on the statistics shown and advise if there were any further 
figures they wished to see represented. 

It was highlighted that many of the statistics were stable, although the Court system 
had caused some delays in adoptions.

It was noted that the costliest age group entering the care system was 10 – 14-year-
olds; a new team was being set up in April 2019 to target this age group and was 
expected to run for two years.  

The increase in family and friends fostering was positive and there had been a 
decrease in fostering placements with agencies. 

The assessment figures had been updated to reflect the correct numbers and 
participation in assessments had also been strong. 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The discrepancy in the dental check figures had been investigated and had 
improved, although there had still been some inconsistencies in the figures. It was 
thought that more Children and Young People in Care had been receiving checks 
that had been recorded therefore Alison Hinds, Head of Children and Young People 
in Care and Fiona Brennan, Designated Nurse for Children and Young People in 
Care had been working together to resolve this.

Care applications had continued to increase, and the median recording of adoption 
timescales was to be added for a future meeting. 

It was highlighted that that the A2 indicators were no longer in the red and that 
Wolverhampton was good in comparison to statistical neighbours. 

The new format was received well; however, it was requested that the adoption 
timescales be represented as a median figure. 

In respect of adoption placements, it was noted that the regional adoption agency 
(RAA) was continuing to find placements for difficult to place children. It was clarified 
that the City of Wolverhampton Council had been hosting the RAA; Dudley Council 
had also expressed interest in hosting initially, however Wolverhampton had been 
selected by participating local authorities following a scoring process. It was 
highlighted that City of Wolverhampton Council demonstrated best practice and 
commitment to finding placements for difficult to place children.

Resolved:
1. That the Performance Monitoring Report be noted.
2. That the statistics for timeliness of adoption timescales be represented as a 

median figure.

11 Exclusion of the Press and Public
Resolved:

That in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of
business as it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information contained in 
paragraph 2 of the Act, namely information that is likely to reveal the identity to 
an individual.

12 Councillor Visits to Establishments

No visits to establishments had been undertaken since the last meeting of the Board.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Corporate Parenting Board
24 January 2019

Report title Schedule of Outstanding Matters

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Paul Sweet
Children and Young People

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Director of Children’s Services

Originating service Governance

Accountable employee(s) Shelley 
Humphries
Tel
Email

Democratic Services Officer

01902 554070
shelley.humphries@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for action:

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to:

1. Consider and comment on the Schedule of Outstanding Matters.

Page 11

Agenda Item No: 5



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to appraise the Board of the current position with a variety of 
matters considered at previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Board.

2.0 Background

2.1 At previous meetings of the Board the following matters were considered and details of 
the current position is set out in the fourth column of the table.

Date of 
Meeting

Subject Lead Member / 
Officer

Current Position

27 September
2018

That the statistics for 
timeliness of adoption 
timescales be 
represented as a
median figure within 
Performance 
Monitoring Report

James Amphlett, 
Business 
Intelligence 
Manager

In progress

22 November 
2018

That the Aspire to Uni 
Project data be 
shared at a future 
Corporate Parenting
Board meeting.

Darren Martindale, 
Service Manager: 
People

Included in Virtual 
School Head 
Annual Report 2018

22 November 
2018

A safeguarding report 
outlining statistics and 
relationships with ‘at 
risk’ children from 
other local authorities 
to be scheduled for a 
future meeting.

Dawn Williams,
Head of 
Safeguarding

Scheduled for the 
Corporate Parenting 
Board meeting on 
28 March 2019 

3.0 Financial implications

3.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

3.2 The financial implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report submitted 
to the Board. 

4.0 Legal implications

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.2 The legal implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report submitted to 
the Board. 

5.0 Equalities implications

5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

5.2 The equalities implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report 
submitted to the Board. 

6.0 Environmental implications

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

6.2 The environmental implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report 
submitted to the Board. 

7.0 Human resources implications

7.1 There are no direct human resources implications arising from this report.

7.2 The human resources implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report 
submitted to the Board. 

8.0 Corporate Landlord implications

8.1 There are no direct Corporate Landlord implications arising from this report.

8.2 The Corporate Landlord implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual 
report submitted to the Board. 

9.0 Health and Wellbeing implications

9.1 The Health and Wellbeing implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual 
report submitted to the Board.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Minutes of previous meetings of the Board and associates.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Corporate Parenting Board
24 January 2019

Report title Virtual School Head Annual Report 2018

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Paul Sweet
Children and Young People

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Director of Children’s Services

Originating service Inclusion Support

Accountable employee Darren 
Martindale
Tel
Email

Service Manager - People
01902 551039
darren.martindale@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for noting:

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to note:

1. The Virtual School Head Annual Report 2018.

Page 15

Agenda Item No: 7



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To update Corporate Parenting Board on the educational outcomes of children and 
young people in care in 2018 (all results are provisional at the time of writing), and how 
the Wolverhampton Virtual School has supported the progress and achievements of 
children and young people in the cohort.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Virtual School Head (VSH) for children and young people in care is responsible for 
ensuring that the local authority effectively discharges its statutory duty to promote the 
education of children in the care of the local authority. This report outlines the 
educational inclusion, attendance and achievement of children and young people in care 
at all key stages in 2017-2018, as well as the Education, Employment and Training (EET) 
outcomes for care leavers, plus educational achievement of young people in the criminal 
justice system. It outlines how these outcomes have been supported by the ‘virtual 
school’ (a model by which we view all of our children and young people in care as if they 
attended the same school, with the VSH as the head teacher) and its partners, and 
highlights areas and plans for further development. 

3.0 Progress

3.1 The VSH Annual Report 2018 is included at Appendix 1.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

4.2 Any costs associated with the educational outcomes of children and young people in 
care and any future plans that are identified as a result of this report will be funded from 
existing budgets within the Inclusion Support Service.
[NM/14012019/M]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.
[TS/15012019/W]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 An equalities analysis will be undertaken if required, in partnership with the Equalities 
and Diversities Team. As the work that underpins this report is to overcome any 
inequality, the analysis is aspirational and will need to be used to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the work.

Page 16



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 There are no human resources implications

9.0 Corporate Landlord implications

9.1 There are no Corporate Landlord implications

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 There are no background papers

Page 17



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Appendix 1

Virtual School Headteacher (VSH) Report 2018
Contents
1. Introduction
2. Cohort Information
3. School Ofsted Ratings
4. Supporting progress and achievement
5. Raising Aspirations – Aspire2Uni
6. Personal Education Plans (PEPs)
7. Pupil Premium Plus
8. Attendance
9. Inclusion
10.School Transition and Stability
11.Attainment and Progress
12.Post-16 Achievement
13.Participation
14.Engagement of Young People in the Youth Justice System
15.Strategic and Partnership Development
16.Conclusion

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report summarises the educational outcomes of Wolverhampton City Council’s 
children and young people in care for the 2017-2018 academic year. 

1.2 The report outlines the ways in which the Virtual School Team have worked to raise the 
achievement of children and young people in care in 2017-2018 and outlines plans for 
further development. 

1.3 This report also seeks to inform knowledge and understanding in a number of areas 
relating to this area.

2.0  Cohort Information

2.1 At November 2018, the following cohort characteristics apply to Wolverhampton’s Virtual 
School:

Total pupils (Reception – Year 11) 464

Placed in Wolverhampton 235 = 51%

Placed out of city 229 = 49%

Attending primary schools 220 = 47%

Attending secondary schools 244 = 53%

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Attending Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) 9 = 2%

Attending Special Schools 55 = 12% 

Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) for 
Special Educational Need or Disability (SEND)

107 EHCP = 23%

Total ethnic groups 14

None White British 37%

3.0      School Ofsted ratings

3.1 Statutory guidance states that children and young people in care should attend schools 
that are rated as either or Good or Outstanding by Ofsted.1 

3.2 At November 2018, 59% of children and young people in care who are educated in 
Wolverhampton attend a good or better school. 72% of those who are educated outside 
Wolverhampton attend a good or better school. 66% of the whole cohort attend a good or 
better school.

3.3 However, several schools do not currently have an Ofsted rating because they have 
recently converted to academy status. Therefore, a more representative measure is 
perhaps the percentage of Children and Young People in Care who attend schools that 
are rated as Requiring Improvement (RI) or Inadequate. This figure was 14% for the 
whole cohort, a slight improvement on 2017. Data for the whole cohort is illustrated in the 
charts below:

11

55

10

4

1

19

0.43 0.22

OUTSTANDING GOOD REQ IMP INADEQUATE

FREE SCHOOL ACADEMY EHE UN REG

Ofsted ratings of all schools attended by children and young people in care

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

3.4 We aim to place children and young people in care in the best schools available to them. 
However, it is sometimes appropriate for a pupil to remain in a school rated as less than 
good or outstanding by Ofsted, for reasons such as placement stability. These factors 
can be particularly valuable to a vulnerable child’s wellbeing and success in school. In 
such cases, an informed assessment is made in the best interests of the pupil.

4.0  Supporting progress and achievement

4.1 Wolverhampton’s Virtual School team are committed to improving educational outcomes 
for children and young people in care through a combination of direct, advisory and 
strategic work with children, schools, social workers, carers and other stakeholders. 

4.2 Managed by the Virtual School Head (VSH), the team employ one full-time equivalent 
(FTE) Education Advisor, 3.5 FTE Education Support Officers, one 0.5 FTE Data Officer 
and one full-time Administrator together with the VSH. We also benefit from the support 
of two senior Education Psychologists (0.90 FTE) a Counselling Psychologist (0.60 FTE) 
and, in 2018-2019, 1.5 FTE Assistant Educational Psychologists, as well as strong links 
with other key agencies. 

4.3 The team have an Education Support Officer (ESO) attached to each Wolverhampton 
school. The workers contact their schools on a termly basis and, in most cases, meets 
with the Designated Teacher to discuss the progress of children and young people in 
care in their school. PEP meetings, annual reviews etc are regularly attended and any 
issues or actions are addressed without delay. The Virtual School track the school 
attendance and attainment of all Wolverhampton children and young people in care to 
ensure that interventions are planned in the most efficient and effective way possible.

4.4 The Virtual School introduced a dedicated ESO role (.5 FTE) for children in early years in 
2017-2018. This has supported significant improvements in the educational outcomes of 
this cohort, as detailed in Section 9. 

4.5 ESOs provide 1:1 study support for Children and Young People in Care in schools, 
helping to remove barriers to learning and supporting good progress. One of the key 
interventions delivered by the team is the Turnabout Programme, an intensive 
programme (2-3 weekly sessions for eight weeks) which helps younger pupils - usually at 
Key Stage 2 (KS2), or school years three to six - to overcome barriers to learning and 
develop their own problem-solving strategies. 

4.6 Pupils are assessed by teachers at the start and end of the Turnabout programme in key 
areas – reading, writing, executive functioning, behaviour, communication and self-
confidence. Pupils made good improvements in all areas following this intervention, as 
illustrated in the chart below.

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

66

49

21

47 47

54
58

71

57

24

54 52
58

62

reading writing 1 writing 2 executive 
functioning

behaviour communicationself-confidence
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

before intervention after intervention

Impact of the Turnabout Intervention Programme 2017/18

4.7 Feedback from schools and carers has highlighted the positive impact that this learning 
support is having, both in and out of school, as illustrated by the following comments:

“A has more of a ‘can do’ attitude…” 

“B has made a lot of progress, is more confident and has improved resilience…”

 “C has a considerable increase in confidence and concentration. I feel that it has built his 
confidence and for the first time he is pleased to be achieving which is a big step for him. 
It was noted by school also at parents evening that his writing is getting much more 
legible…” 

“thank you; you have made a BIG difference.”

4.8 The Virtual School have continued to build their capacity through ongoing training and 
team development. For example, in summer 2018 they completed both basic and 
advanced training in delivering “Drawing and talking”, a 1:1 strategy aimed at supporting 
children to explore their feelings and personal barriers, and to identify possible ways 
forward. 

4.9 Case Study - feedback from an ESO on her 1:1 work with a year 6 pupil:

I was asked by Warstones [primary school] if I could try the Turnabout programme with S 
because she was struggling and lacking confidence in class. Since completing the 
programme, S has excelled in class and is doing very well. The DT [Designated Teacher] 
then asked me to do more work with S as her self-esteem and confidence were dipping 
[again] and she didn’t want to take the test for Thomas Telford [selective school]. S was 
adamant and had made her mind up [that she wouldn’t take the entrance test] – end of. I 
did more work with S around confidence building. We talked at length about Thomas 
Telford and how the test works. [Eventually] she said she will go for the test and she got 
in! The carer was so pleased - she called me to thank me and said S is so happy she has 

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

got in and can’t wait to start as she knows that her future will be brighter. I went to see S; 
she is so happy she has got into Thomas Telford and is glad that she sat the test.

4.10 The Virtual School deliver bespoke interventions for groups of children and young 
people in care, as well as individuals. In the summer 2018, a communication skills 
workshop was delivered for 10 pupils in Key Stage four (year 10/11) aimed at building 
confidence and interpersonal skills. Participants had to work toward delivering a 
presentation to the rest of the group, at the end of the day. The young people showed 
dramatic improvements in their confidence throughout the day and feedback was given 
as follows:

4.11 The success of this event was also highlighted by comments from the students:

 It was good and it will help me when I’m older
 The training helped me to understand how people can become more confident. I would 

recommend it to my friends
 It was fun and we learned a lot about new people and it was interesting. I am now 

more confident
 The training was really good… Excellent way to meet new people

4.12 The activities of the Educational Psychologists (EPs) and Counselling Psychologist 
working within the Virtual School include:

 Consultation with Social Workers, teachers, support staff from a range of agencies 
and with children

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 Assessment of children and young people in care, placed both within city and out of 
City

 Interventions either directly or indirectly that relate to learning, social emotional and 
mental health needs

 Training for professionals and carers

 Attendance at multi-agency meetings where specialist psychologically based input is 
required, along with reflective practice and solution focused case(s) meetings 
implementing restorative practice principles

Breaking their work down into hours spent on the delivery of each of these 5 priorities, 
Virtual School psychologists delivered the following;

Consultation: In City: 100 Out of City: 85

Assessment: In City: 104 Out of City: 134

Interventions: In City: 56 Out of City: 66

Training: In City: 65 Out of City: 26

Meetings: In City: 117 Out of City: 82

4.13 The VSH employed three Assistant Educational Psychologists (1.5 FTE) in 2017-
2018, funded by the Pupil Premium Grant. These colleagues supported children and 
young people in care at KS4, and a small number at KS3, who were at risk of 
underachieving, by providing extra support with coursework, revision, exam preparation 
etc. They also provided training for foster carers and Designated Teachers, as well as 
contributing to the professional development of the Virtual School team itself.

4.14 The Assistants complete Targeting, Monitoring and Evaluation (TME) forms, in 
consultation with the students and their Designated Teachers, to assess the progress of 
pupils following their intervention. They set, on average, two to three targets for each 
pupil. A score (from 1-10) is agreed for each target which best reflects where they are at 
the start of the intervention (their baseline), plus a target score for where they would like 
to be by the end. A final, actual score is agreed after the intervention, thereby giving an 
indication of the distance travelled.  

Page 23



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

4.15 Targets are grouped into 10 categories such Motivation and Engagement, Resilience / 
Emotional Wellbeing or Relationships with Peers. The chart below shows which 
categories interventions tended to focus on, with motivation and engagement being the 
most prevalent:

[PERCENTAGE]

6%6%11%

14%

3%

3% 6%
11%

0%

Motivation and Engagement Language and Communication Self Esteem / Confidence

SEMH Resiliance and Emotional Wellbeing Relationship with Peers

Attention and Concentration Behaviour Staff and School Development

Literacy / Writing / Spelling

Key Stage 4 - interventions by area

4.16 The chart below illustrates the progress made in each category of intervention. All 
students made positive progress in every identified category (none of the interventions 
concentrated on the last two categories) with behaviour showing the greatest 
improvement:

4.21

5.50

6.50

2.75

4.00

5.00

3.00

6.00

0.00 0.00

Motiv
ati

on an
d 

Enga
ge

ment

La
ngu

ag
e an

d 

Communica
tio

n

Se
lf E

ste
em / C

onfid
ence

SE
MH

Resili
an

ce
 an

d Emotio
nal 

Wellb
eing

Relat
ionsh

ip w
ith

 Peers

Atte
ntio

n an
d 

Conce
ntra

tio
n

Behav
iour

Sta
ff a

nd Sc
hool 

Deve
lopment

Lit
erac

y /
 W

rit
ing /

 Sp
ellin

g
0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

Avg Dis Travelled per Category

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

5.0 Raising aspirations – Aspire 2 Uni

5.0 The Aspire2Uni (A2U) Programme is now in its fourth year and continues to raise 
aspirations, as well as supporting improved attainment and creating exciting bespoke 
opportunities for children and young people in care. The VSH manages the project from 
Wolverhampton’s perspective, and all members of the team provide staffing, 
organisational and administrative support.

5.1 A partnership project with the University of Wolverhampton and the “Creating Chances 
Trust”, alongside the four Local Authority Virtual schools participating in the project - 
Sandwell, Stafford, Walsall and Wolverhampton - the programme is embedded into wider 
strategies for raising aspirations, attainment and progression. A2U is targeted at pupils 
who are reaching expected standards at the end of KS2. Three cohorts are now following 
the programme, in years seven, eight and nine and 10. Wolverhampton have between 
four and 12 Children and Young People in Care in each cohort.

5.2 There are three main elements to the programme:

 Outreach - the University organises a series of university visits and other events, 
designed to raise aspirations, break down barriers and inform progression to higher 
education. 

 Mentoring - a dedicated mentor is allocated to the young people and works with them in 
their home; this ensures they do not miss valuable lesson time and engages the child’s 
carers and home network with the programme. Children see their Mentor either once per 
week or once per fortnight

 Work Experience and Enrichment - Working with local businesses, Creating Chances 
Trust raises funds and accesses high quality, bespoke work placements for individual 
children, where appropriate. In addition, the trust sources enrichment experiences, such 
as visits to the theatre or outward-bound experiences, to broaden horizons and build 
confidence. 

5.3 In 2017, 32% of looked after children, nationally, achieved the expected attainment in 
core subjects at the end of Key Stage Two. Some 17% attained GCSEs in English and 
maths at grade four or above. Alongside the clear attainment gap between Children and 
Young People in Care and their peers, these outcomes also show how attainment drops 
between year six and year 11. Given this context, we would expect around 20-30% of all 
looked after children at secondary school to achieve the attainment standard for their 
age, on average, with a steady decline throughout their secondary years. 

5.4 Of the 18 children and young people in care from Wolverhampton who were participating 
in A2U in the summer of 2018 (so the current years eight, nine and 10), 72% are at the 
expected standard in both English and maths. This is an exceptional outcome which puts 
these children broadly in line with all pupils, nationally. Furthermore, the year 10 cohort is 
doing just as well as those at Key Stage Three.

5.5 Comparisons with children and young people in care averages admittedly skewed by the 
fact that A2U participants all attained the expected standard at KS2, so it doesn’t include 

Page 25



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

the significant proportion of the cohort with SEND, for instance. However, if we take the 
current year 11 (who weren’t involved in A2U) as a control group, we find that only a very 
small percentage are at the expected standard. While we would expect their performance 
to improve by the summer (these pupils are all supported and Wolverhampton are 
usually above average in this area) it is likely to be significantly less than 72%.

5.6 Feedback from pupils and stakeholders is providing further evidence of the scheme’s 
positive impact. Based on recent consultation with the whole A2U cohort:

 86% of pupils felt that their attitude to learning had improved due to the programme
 More than half felt that their ability in English and maths had improved. 86% had noticed 

improvements in other subjects 
 Students’ confidence had also improved significantly. The vast majority intend to go on to 

university and 85% feel they’re currently ‘on track’ for that (if pupils decide that HE 
probably isn’t for them, we will keep supporting them toward another positive 
destination).

5.7 Improvements in children’s attitudes and behaviour at home, as well as at school, are 
highlighted in feedback from this foster carer:

“She is more focussed… and more able to face challenges and tackle areas she 
struggles with… [she] is having fewer tantrums and seems to have matured in her 
approach to life.”

5.8 Feedback from Designated Teachers has also highlighted how, while the level of 
engagement and success can vary for individual pupils, A2U is undoubtedly helping to 
raise aspirations:

 
S is really enjoying it, he looks forward to attending it. It has opened his eyes to what 
opportunities are out there. He definitely wants to go to university, and is motivated to do 
well… I is not as keen as S, however she has decided she wants to go into nursing and 
is aware she needs good grades to go into university. This will keep her focused and 
motivated to study.

6.0 Personal Education Plans

6.1 It is a statutory requirement of local authorities to ensure that all children and young 
people in care have a quality, up-to-date Personal Education Plan (PEP). However, the 
quality of PEPs is frequently uneven and sometimes poor. This is a reality often 
highlighted by Ofsted.

6.2 To help to address this, the Corporate Parenting and Education Team audit PEPs for 
quality. Approximately 50 PEPs are being audited each month. Different children are 
audited each time, so that all will have had at least one PEP audited by the end of the 
year. Individual audit results are sent to social workers and Designated Teachers for their 

Page 26



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

information and guidance. The Virtual School Head provides a termly summary report for 
the attention on senior managers. 

6.3 A recent audit of 100 PEPs that were completed between November 2017 and July 2018 
revealed a slight improvement in quality, when compared with summer 2017:

 74% were either good or outstanding (compared to 73% in 2017)

 63% had SMART targets (compared to 50% in 2017)

 The 2017 audits showed clear improvements on previous years, so PEP quality shows 
a slow upward curve

 However, while far more PEPs are being rated as good, fewer were judged as 
outstanding (6%) when compared to summer 2017 (12%). Therefore, more work 
needs to be done to make PEPs more aspirational in quality.

 It should be noted that some of the PEPs in the most recent audit were completed on 
the old paper format. All of the PEPs on subsequent audits should be electronic and 
therefore we would expect a clearer improvement in quality

6.4 In 2017-2018 The VSH introduced a new electronic PEP form on the Eclipse system, 
which will eventually replace Carefirst as our information management system for 
children’s safeguarding. 

6.5 We have experienced challenges in ensuring that all social workers and Designated 
Teachers have access to the new PEP form, and are fluent in its use, due to factors such 
as frequent staffing changes and the availability of mobile internet access. As a result, a 
minority of PEPs have been completed using the old WORD (paper) format during 2017-
2018, which has made it difficult to accurately evidence the impact of the new system on 
PEP quality. However, it is expected that a true comparison with PEPs of previous years 
will be possible by the autumn term 2018. 

6.6 Anecdotally, we have seen the quality of PEPs generally improving through the 
introduction of the new PEP and completion rates remain high, as illustrated in the graph 
below:

Page 27



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

7.0 The Pupil Premium Plus

7.1 The Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) is the funding allocated to local authorities, and managed 
by the VSH, to support improvements in the educational attainment of children and 
young people in care. Like most local authorities, Wolverhampton allocates most of the 
grant to schools and also ‘top-slices’ a portion for specific projects and resources to 
address identified priorities such as, for example:

 Aspire2Uni
 Beanstalk Volunteer Reading Help (reading support for pupils at KS1/2)
 Training of Designated Teachers
 Britannica School - an interactive, online version of the Encyclopaedia Britannica which 

we provide to facilitate safe, effective study support at home. Carers receive training in 
the use of the resource and it is also provided to our adoptive parents

 Assistant EP support to raise attainment at KS4
 to support pupils with higher levels of need.

7.2 In 2018- 2019, PP+ increased from £1,900 to £2,300 per pupil, per annum, giving a total 
allocation of £1,221,300 for Wolverhampton. However, increasing budgetary pressures 
have meant that a portion of the grant is now also being utilised to fund several posts 
within the Virtual School team. Schools, therefore, continue to receive a total of £1,800 
per annum for each Wolverhampton children and young people in care on their roll (the 
same basic allocation as 2017-2018).

7.3 The above spend is equal to the total amount of grant allocated in 2018-2019 
(£1,221,300 PP+, plus £30,000.00 funding for ‘previously looked after children’2). Any 
unspent grant must be returned to the DfE at the end of each financial year. As a result, 
several local authorities have had to return unspent grant to the DfE in the past. 
However, this has never happened in Wolverhampton Virtual School, as the funding is 
efficiently and successfully managed throughout the year.

8.0 School Attendance 

8.1 The average school attendance of Wolverhampton children and young people in care in 
years 1-11 in 2017-2018 is outlined in the table below:

In city 93.23%

OOC 95.07%

Combined 94.15%

2 This additional funding is allocated by the DfE, in 3 instalments, to support the additional responsibilities on the Virtual 
School Head, under the Children and Social care Act 2018, to support the education of children who have left care via an 
adoption, special guardianship or child arrangements order. This responsibility came into force in September 2018 and 
entails the provision of information and advice, rather than the same level of direct responsibility as for children and young 
people in care.

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

8.2 These percentages are slightly lower than the previous year. However, the difference 
(approximately 2%) is not statistically significant. The vast majority of pupils in the cohort 
attend school very well (the overall attendance percentage is reduced by a small minority 
of pupils with persistent absence).

8.3 The percentage of pupils with persistent absence are detailed in the table below:

N
o 

w
it

h 
< 

90
%

 a
tt

en
da

nc
e

To
ta

l n
o 

of
 s

tu
de

nt
s

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 w

it
h 

< 
90

%
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e

N
o 

w
it

h 
< 

90
%

 a
tt

en
da

nc
e

To
ta

l n
o 

of
 s

tu
de

nt
s

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 w

it
h 

< 
90

%
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e

N
o 

w
it

h 
< 

90
%

 a
tt

en
da

nc
e

To
ta

l n
o 

of
 s

tu
de

nt
s

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 w

it
h 

< 
90

%
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e
Autumn 17 229 7.42% # 236 7.62% 35 465 7.74%

Spring 33 230 14.34% # 233 9.44% 55 463 11.87%

Summer 30 235 12.76% # 229 11.35% 56 464 12.06%

11.53% 9.46% 10.49%

Wolverhampton LAC with < 85% attendance for the 2017/2018 academic year

In City Out of City Combined
Rolling % Rolling % Rolling %

8.4 The overall percentage of persistent absentees is in line with the national average for 
Children and Young People in Care (2017) which is 10%. The percentage for the OOC 
cohort is slightly higher than for in-city pupils, which is in contrast to the discrepancy in 
attainment (see Attainment and Progress below).

8.5 The vast majority of persistent absentees also had particularly complex needs, especially 
in terms of SEMH (social, behavioural and mental health) difficulties. They have often 
experienced disruptions to their schooling due to such issues, and disruptions were 
linked, in some cases, to emergency changes in care placement.  

8.6 The Virtual School will continue to work proactively with schools and other partners, to 
help them to support the attendance and engagement of pupils with complex needs. 
Access to alternative provision is made available without delay in Wolverhampton, when 
it is required. We also work closely with School Admissions, and with schools and 
admissions and teams in other local authorities where looked after children are placed 
outside Wolverhampton, to ensure that appropriate school places are secured as quickly 
as possible.

Page 29



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

8.7 An issue which can potentially impact on overall attendance is the frequency with which 
foster carers request to take children and young people in care on holidays during school 
term time. While we only agree to such requests in exceptional circumstances, and in 
agreement with the child’s school, there may be such occasions where a term-time 
holiday may be granted in the interests of the child; for example, where there are clear 
educational or therapeutic benefits.

9.0 Inclusion

9.1 There were 86 recorded temporary exclusions for children and young people in care in 
Wolverhampton schools in 2017-2018. This is 2% higher than 2016-2017. While 2% is 
not statistically significant, exclusions will continue to be monitored and challenged very 
strongly throughout 2018-2019 to ensure that this does not become a consistent 
downturn. 

9.2 However, slightly fewer children in the above cohort are being excluded than in the 
previous year - 29 experienced one or more temporary exclusion, compared to 34 in 
2016-2017.  

9.3 Complete exclusions data for children and young people in care who are educated 
outside Wolverhampton is available for the first time in 2018, due to Welfare Call 
monitoring performance in this area. For the out-of-City cohort, the picture is similar: 32 
children experienced one or more temporary exclusion in 2017-2018, with a total of 82 
exclusions. 

9.4 The most frequent reasons for temporary exclusion are persistent disruption and verbal 
abuse or threat to an adult, which reflects the high level of social, emotional / mental 
health and behavioural difficulties within the cohort. A breakdown of the reasons for 
temporary exclusions of children and young people in care in Wolverhampton schools is 
illustrated in the table below:

N
o of Exclusions

no of children

no of days

R
easons

no of exclusions 

86 29 203
Damage 8
Drug/alcohol related 1
Other 4
Persistent disruption 21
Physical assault 
against a pupil

9

Physical assault 
against an adult

10

Page 30



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

N
o of Exclusions

no of children

no of days

R
easons

no of exclusions 

Verbal abuse/threat 
to adult

25

Verbal abuse/threat 
to pupil

8

9.5 One pupil was permanently excluded in 2017-2018. A significant number of exclusions, 
and potential exclusions, are avoided through the support and challenge that the Virtual 
School team and its partners offer to schools, with permanent exclusions being extremely 
rare for the cohort (one or two per annum). 

9.6 At June 2018, eight pupils in the cohort had an education offer of less than 25 hours. The 
pupils with less than 25 hours all had complex needs which had resulted in instability of 
education provision and, in most cases, multiple changes of care placement. In such 
cases, home tuition and other tailored packages of support are arranged in as timely a 
manner as possible. All pupils without a full-time offer have an action plan detailing how 
their provision will be extended toward 25 hours, overseen by the Virtual School.

10.0 School Transition and Stability

10.1 Research shows that children and young people in care who changed school in Years 10 
or 11 scored over five grades less than those who did not3. The Virtual School works 
closely with social workers, schools and carers to maintain existing school placements, 
wherever possible and appropriate. If a change of school is the best option, then we help 
to ensure a successful transition and support good, joined-up working with all key 
partners.

10.2 Social workers are expected to consult the Virtual School Head prior to any change of 
school for a child in care, so that advice can be given as to the suitability of any potential 
school placement. This requirement is highlighted in the PEP training that is provided to 
all social workers and Designated Teachers, as well as in our internal policies and Model 
School Policy. and other guidance. We provide direct support for children and young 
people in care if they do have to move schools, ensuring a successful transition through 
mentoring, in-class support, and close partnership working with all key agencies.

10.3 The transition from primary to secondary school can be particularly difficult for many 
children and young people in care. The Virtual School ensure that all children and young 
people in care are supported with a successful transition through 1:1 meetings with year 
6 children and young people in care and their teachers, and follow-up meetings in the 

3 http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wp-
content/uploads/2015/12/EducationalProgressLookedAfterChildrenKeyMessages_Nov2015.pdf

Page 31

http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/EducationalProgressLookedAfterChildrenKeyMessages_Nov2015.pdf
http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/EducationalProgressLookedAfterChildrenKeyMessages_Nov2015.pdf


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

new Secondary school before and after secondary induction sessions. We also help to 
ensure that children are given their preferred choice of secondary school. If we feel that 
their preferred choice is not actually the best available school to meet their needs, we will 
provide advice and support accordingly. Out-of-city pupils are given additional 
information and support by a dedicated Education Support Officer. 

11.0 Attainment and Progress

11.1 The data below outlines the academic performance of children and young people in care 
in 2018, both those educated in Wolverhampton schools and out-of-city in standard 
assessments. 

11.2 Only children who have been in care for 12 months+ at 1 April 2018 (or ‘eligible’ children) 
are included. All 2018 outcomes are currently provisional.

11.3 EYFS attainment – 10 pupils

Subject Wolverhampton Children and 
Young People in Care 
achieving age-related 
expectation (ARE)

All Wolverhampton pupils 
2018

Reading 7 pupils - 70% 74%
Writing 7 pupils - 70% 71%
Maths (Number) 7 pupils - 70% 76%
Good level of development 
(GLD) in all areas

7 pupils - 70% (38%) 69%

11.4 Outcomes at EYFS have improved in 2018 when compared with all previous years and 
are in line with the outcomes for Wolverhampton pupils generally. 

11.5 Year 1 phonics – pupils achieving age-related expectation in tests

Wolverhampton 
Children and Young 
People in Care

OOC Children and 
Young People in Care

All Children 
and Young 
People in 
Care

All 
Wolverhampton 
pupils 2018

7/10 pupils - 70% 6/10 pupils – 60% 13/20 – 65% 81%

11.6 Outcomes in the year 1 phonics test are strong for children and young people in care and 
equal to 2017, with a 9% gap between Children and Young People in Care and all 
Wolverhampton pupils.

11.7 KS1 attainment – pupils attaining expected standard

Cohort Maths Reading Writing math/read/writ

Page 32



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

In-city Children 
and Young 
People in Care 
(11 pupils)

6 – 55% 7 – 64% 5 – 45% 4/11 – 36% 

OOC Children 
and Young 
People in Care 
(9 pupils)

4 – 44% 3 – 33% 1 – 11% 1 – 11%

All Children and 
Young People in 
Care (20 pupils)

10 – 55% 10 – 50% 6 – 30% 5 – 25%

All 
Wolverhampton 
pupils

75% 74% 70% 65%

11.8 KS2 attainment – pupils attaining expected standard

Cohort Maths Reading Writing GPS math/read/writ
In-city Children 
and Young 
People in Care 
(24 pupils)

9 – 38% 14 – 58% 15 – 63% 12 – 50% 8 – 33%

OOC Children 
and Young 
People in Care 
(17 pupils)

7 – 41% 6 – 35% 4 – 24% 8 – 47% 1 – 6%

All Children and 
Young People 
in Care (41 
pupils)

16 – 39% 20 – 49% 19 – 46% 20 – 49% 9 – 22%

All 
Wolverhampton 
pupils

75% 74% 80% 78% 64%

11.9 KS2 Progress – Wolverhampton Children and Young People in Care

Subject Average progress 
score

National Children and 
Young People in Care 
average progress 2017

All Wolverhampton 
pupils progress 2018

Reading 0.164 -0.7 0.9
Writing 0.45 -0.9 1.2
Maths -4.33 -1.1 0.5

Page 33



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Subject % making average 
or better progress

National Children and 
Young People in Care 
average % 2017

All Wolverhampton 
pupils % 2018

Reading 63 46 56.4
Writing 67 50 62.5
Maths 33 47 53
Reading, writing 
and maths

58

11.10 KS4 attainment – pupils achieving grade 4+ in maths and English

Cohort Maths English Maths and 
English

In-city Children and 
Young People in 
Care (19 pupils)

5- 26% 7 – 37% 5 – 26%

OOC Children and 
Young People in 
Care (19 pupils)

4 – 21% 7 – 37% 2 – 11%

All Children and 
Young People in 
Care (38 pupils)

9 – 24% 14 – 37% 18.4%

National Children 
and Young People 
in Care average 
2017

17.5%

11.11 The average attainment 8 score for the in-city cohort was 18.47, while for the Out of City 
(OOC) cohort the average score was 16.48, giving a combined average score of 17.48. 
The average attainment 8 score for all Wolverhampton pupils (in state-funded schools) 
was 44.2.

11.12 The average progress 8 score for our in-city cohort was -1.15, while for OOC pupils the 
average was -1.08. Zero represents average progress; therefore the further below zero 
the score, the weaker the score. This compares with a progress 8 average of 0.05 for all 
pupils in Wolverhampton (state-funded schools).

11.13 89% of children and young people in care achieved one or more GCSEs at grade one-
nine (most of these achieved several GCSEs).

11.14 Outcomes for the whole cohort at KS1 – 4 are broadly in line with national and regional 
averages; while the in-city results are generally higher than children and young people in 
care averages, the OOC results are lower. 

11.15 There is a noticeable attainment gap between in-city and OOC cohort at KS1-4. This is 
typically the case. However, the difference is generally greater than usual this year. KS2 
maths is an exception to this, with OOC pupils performing better than in-city.

Page 34



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

11.16 This difference appears to be due to the OOC cohort having particularly high levels of 
need and low prior attainment. For example, almost half of the OOC KS2 cohort had an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). This is very high considering that 27.07% of 
Wolverhampton children and young people in care currently have an EHCP (December 
2018) and, nationally, 26.7% of children and young people in care had an EHCP in 2017 
(Department for Education (DfE) 2017). 

11.17 Progress data is arguably a better parameter for vulnerable children (in particular) than 
attainment. It should be noted that the majority of the OOC cohort in year two to six were 
reported as making good progress by their schools (considering their starting points, 
abilities etc) and received high levels of support throughout the year. A high percentage 
of children and young people in care have made good or better progress in reading and 
writing at KS2 – better than both national children and young people in care averages 
and all Wolverhampton pupils – though a lower percentage have achieved that 
benchmark in maths. It should also be noted that the above attainment gaps are smaller 
than the (2017) national attainment gap between children and young people in care and 
all pupils.

11.18 The performance of children and young people in care with Education, Health and 
Care Plans presents a varied picture when compared with their peers. 0 children and 
young people in care with EHCPs achieved GCSEs in English and/or maths at grade four 
or above in 2018 (compared with just over 5% of all pupils in Wolverhampton). However, 
children and young people in care with EHCPs achieved better outcomes than other 
pupils with EHCPs at Key Stage Two, as illustrated in the table below (the cohort 
includes such small numbers, however, that comparisons are not necessarily particularly 
meaningful):

Cohort Maths Reading Writing Math / 
Reading 
Writing

In-city with EHCP 1 – 25% 1 – 25% 2 - 50% 0 – 0%

OOC with EHCP 1 – 12.5% 2 – 25% 0 – 0% 0 – 0%

All 
Wolverhampton 
pupils with EHCP

7.8% 12.5% 15.6% 4.7%

11.19  We should also not overlook the many broader achievements of our remarkable children 
and young people in care. Many have worked extremely hard and achieved very well, in 
relation to their starting point and previous outcomes. Several pupils achieved the 
expected attainment in one of the core subjects, for example, but narrowly missed out on 
the other, as well as making great strides and achievements in other areas. 

Page 35



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

12.0 Post-16 outcomes

12.1 Educational outcomes for the 26 young people in the cohort in year 13 (aged 18) who 
were completing, or expected to complete, an accredited qualification in 2018 as 
illustrated in the table below:

Entry level Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Total 
achieved 
qualifications

1 (Entry 2) 3 3 8 3 18 (69%)

12.2 12 young people in the post-16 cohort started university courses in 2018. 
Wolverhampton now has 26 care leavers in higher education (HE). This is an excellent 
number compared to national and regional averages (nationally, only 6% of care leavers 
progress to higher education (HE) which has continually improved over the past 5 years.

12.3 At July 2018, the percentage of children and young people in care and care leavers in 
Education, Employment and Training (EET) is illustrated in the table below (NALM refers 
to young people who are Not Available to the Labour Market – due to illness or disability, 
pregnancy, custody or other reasons):

Pass Fail %
In EET including 
NALM

125 175 62.5%

In EET excluding 
NALM

116 39 74.84%

12.4 The above data places Wolverhampton above national and regional averages for the 
cohort. The majority of the young people who in EET are in full-time further education.

12.5 Connexions monitor and support the EET status of care experienced young people aged 
16-18 who are living / educated in Wolverhampton. Data supplied by Connexions in 
Autumn 2018 shows that, of this smaller cohort (99 young people), 81% are in education, 
employment or training, as illustrated in the chart below:

Page 36



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

school college/FE study prog/training apprenticeship
employment re-engagement NEET YOI

EET status of care-experienced young people in Wolverhampton aged 16-18

12.6 Support for young people who are not in education, employment or training (NEET) is 
delivered by the Virtual School and Transitions teams, in partnership with Connexions 
and Youth Employment Initiative (YEI) and led by the EET Coordinator, a post within the 
Transitions team which is supported and partly supervised by the Virtual Head.

12.7 An EET panel, introduced in 2017-2018 and consisting of representatives from the above 
agencies, meets monthly to consider all children and young people in care and leavers at 
16+ who are NEET. The panel agrees SMART actions for each NEET young person and 
reviews the progress of all cases on a regular basis.

12.8 An EET Action Group, chaired by the Virtual School Head, also meets regularly and 
promotes improved EET opportunities and support for children and young people in care 
and leavers on a more strategic level. In 2017-2018 the group has created and supported 
several work placements and apprenticeships, ensured that key resources such as 
Workbox are promoted to care leavers, facilitated improved joined-up working and 
provided training and advice to employers and training providers in meeting the needs of 
young people in the cohort. The group has also initiated consultation work with care 
leavers to identify any barriers to successful progression into EET. An enhanced 
apprenticeship and pre-apprenticeship programme are among the priorities identified for 
2018-2019.

12.9 The national Care Leaver Covenant4, launched by the DfE in 2018, is being co-ordinated 
by Wolverhampton-based company Spectra First. The VSH and EET Action Group are 

4 this is a commitment from organisations in the private and voluntary sector to provide support to young people aged 16-25 
and help them live fulfilling independent lives after leaving care. See online at: http://spectrafirst.com/

Page 37



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

working with Spectra to ensure that Wolverhampton’s care leavers are at the forefront of 
any opportunities that are supported by the Covenant. One such opportunity is an 
initiative with Barclays Bank, to create a bespoke version of Barclays Life Skills 
programme for care leavers. In summer 2018, the VSH worked with Spectra to provide 
advisory support to Barclays around the needs, strengths and circumstances of children 
and young people in care and care leavers in support of the planned programme. 

13.0 Participation

13.1 Wolverhampton has an excellent Children in Care Council (CiCC) which benefits from 
close links with the Youth Council and with elected members. The CiCC is actively 
involved in Participation at a regional and national level, enabling our children and young 
people in care to act as a real force for change and the improvement of services.

13.2 The Virtual School Headteacher Report was shared with the Children in care Council in 
the autumn term 2017 and educational issues, such as the PEP process, are regularly 
discussed. The CiCC were pleased with the direction of the 2016-2017 report and have 
also received an early version of this report in November 2018. They expressed concern 
about the Lower attainment of young people educated outside Wolverhampton and the 
percentage in year 11 who achieved good GCSEs. These areas are addressed in the 
2017-2018 Attainment Improvement Plan.

13.5 The new electronic PEP, which was launched in November 2017, and other participation 
tools such as MOMO (Mind of my Own) are also being used to enable the voice of 
children and young people to be better heard through electronic / online access. 

13.6 Wolverhampton’s annual Awards Ceremony for children and young people in care, the I-
Awards,  saw a large number of young people receive recognition for their successes 
throughout 2017-2018. The VSH was very proud to present the Intellectual award, for 
educational achievement, as part of the event. The Virtual School team take a lead role 
in the organisation and staffing of the ceremony.

14.0 Education of Young People in the Youth Justice System

14.1 The engagement of young offenders in education has been recognised as a challenge at 
a national and local level.  Many young offenders experience an educational offer that is 
significantly less than 25 hours, due to a variety of personal and systemic challenges, 
including very high levels of SEND.  Even when a full-time educational offer is in place, 
young offenders experience a number of barriers to engagement. 

14.2 In 2015-2016 it was recognised that educational engagement of young people in this 
cohort was poor in Wolverhampton, even in comparison woth national and statistical 
neighbours. In 2016, the role of the Virtual School Head was therefore extended to 
support the Youth Offending Team (YOT), to improve partnerships with schools, 
challenge exclusions and promote educational attendance. The VSH is also a member of 
the YOT Management Board. 

Page 38



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

14.3 To this end, the monthly YOT PNIFTED (pupils not in full-time education) meetings have 
continued to be strengthened with the active involvement of Educational Psychology, 
Special Educational Needs Statutory Assessment and Review Team (SENSTART), 
Behaviour and Attendance officers, the VSH and key external partners such as the KS4 
PRU, Midpoint, as well as the HOS (Head of Service) for YOT. The panel facilitates 
action planning and close collaborative working between all partners to increase the 
levels of ETE engagement for the cohort.

14.4 These developments have supported a significant and sustained improvement in the 
educational engagement of young offenders, as highlighted below:

 At June 2018, 73% of school-aged (age 10-16) young offenders were engaged in full-
time education. 60% of young offenders aged 16-18 were engaged full-time, giving a 
total figure for the whole YOT cohort of 66% full-time educational attendance.

 For the period April 2017 to March 2018, the average full-time engagement level for the 
school-aged cohort was 71%. The engagement of the post-16 cohort was 52%, giving a 
total average for the period of 59%.

 Prior to 2016, the average engagement level of the school-aged cohort was 56%, while 
post-16 engagement was historically lower still. Therefore, we have seen a significant 
and consistent improvement, particularly for the school-aged cohort. 

14.5 The VSH has not been as actively involved with the post-16 version of the YOT EET 
panel (which also meets monthly) as the role has been largely related to school-aged 
children. However, it has been agreed with senior management that the VSH will reularly 
attend and support the post-16 panel also, from 2019 onward, to support further 
improvements in the educational provision and engagement of the older cohort. 

15.0 Strategic and Partnership development

15.1 The Virtual Head has a statutory duty to strenghten the awareness of key professionals 
around the needs of children and young people in care, to build strong working 
partnerships, and to develop policy and procedure in this area. In pursuence of this, the 
VSH is involved in a combination of advisory and strategic work with all key agencies.

15.2 The Virtual School drives forward the local development of the ‘Attachment Aware 
Schools’ initiative, through which Virtual Heads promote attachment and trauma-informed 
practice in schools across the country. We have formed the ARC (Attachment Reseach 
Consortium), a national hub for the development of research and best practive in this 
field. Sir John Timpson is a key partner in the project and has commissioned new 
research in the field of attachment awareness through ARC.

15.3 In relation to this and other priorities, the Virtual School delivered the following training in 
2017-2018:

• A termly Designated Teachers’ Forum (average attendance is approximately 30) and two 
training sessions on the role of the Designated Teacher

• One training day for Designated Teachers on attachment and trauma, and one day on 
attachment and trauma in teenagers (in partnership with the Educational Psychology 
Service)

Page 39



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

• Four training sessions on supporting education for foster carers and two workshop on 
‘Emotion Coaching’ for carers. 75 foster carers attended Virtual School training in total.

• Three training sessions for School Governors – one the exansion of school’s 
responsibilities to “previously looked-after” children and also (in Wolverhampton) young 
offenders, one on understanding challenging behaviour (aiming to reduce school 
exclusions) and another on the governor’s role in promoting the achievement of Children 
and Young People in Care.

• Two training sessions on the Personal Education Plan for newly-qualified social workers 
and regular training / briefings on the electronic PEP.

• Various briefings to social care teams, including two mandatory training sessions for 
Children and Young People in Care teams on SEND and the SEND Code of Practice (in 
partnership with the SENSTART manager).

15.4 In September 2018, the Children and Social Work Act 2018 extended the role of the 
Virtual School Head and Designated Teacher (DT) for children and young people in care 
to include children whio have left care via an Adoption, Special Guardianship Order or 
Child Arrangements Order. Although the statutory VSH role is limited to making 
information and advice available, this is a significant expansion to the DTs’ role. This is 
now incorporated into Designated Teachers’ training as well as being regularly discussed 
at the DT Forum.

15.5 Virtual School Heads (VSH) have continued ongoing work with Ofsted in 2017-2018, to 
strengthen inspectors’ understanding of the needs of children and young people in care 
and so increase their focus on the cohort during school inspections. Termly meetings 
have been held and the West Midlands Ofsted team have a lead Her Majestys Inspector 
for children and young people in care. Schools are also increasingly aware of their 
responsibilities and it is now possible for the VSH to be consulted by Ofsted as part of a 
school inspection.

15.6 The VSH contributed a section of advice (on effective use of the Pupil Premium Plus) to 
the revised statutory guidance on “Promoting the Education of Looked after and 
Previously Looked after Children” (DfE 2018). 

15.7 The VSH helped to organise the fourth annual conference of the West Midlands Virtual 
Schools Network in the summer term 2018, delivering a workshop on the electronic PEP, 
and also ran a workshop on effective use of the Pupil Premium plus at the National 
SecEd Pupil Premium Conference in the summer term. 

15.8 The VSH also held discussions with the educational leads in Youth Offending Teams in 
Durham and Milton Keynes, to research the improvements they had made in supporting 
young offenders with SEND (speech, language and communication difficulties in 
particular). This learning has contributed to the ongoing development of our assessments 
and support for this very vulnerable cohort. 

15.9 The VSH was involved in ongoing work in 2017-2018, led by the Principal Educational 
Psychologist (EP), to reduce school exclusions across Wolverhampton schools, as well 
as a drive to create a more coherent and joined-up approach to SEMH (Social, Emotional 

Page 40



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

and Mental Health) support. The training that the Virtual School Team delivers is a key 
component of that support. 

16.0 Conclusion and Next Steps

16.1 Once again, there is much to celebrate regarding the educational achievement of the 
children in our care. A very small percentage of Children and Young People in Care are 
attending schools which are rated as requiring improvement or inadequate by Ofsted. 
Attendance rates are generally high and a very small number are not accessing full-time 
education, while permanent exclusions for  Children and Young People in Care are 
extremely rare. Attainment shows strength in several areas, with excellent improvement 
at early years. A high percentage of the post-16 cohort are in education, employment and 
training and a growing number of Care Leavers are attending university. There is 
evidence that the quality of PEPs is gradually improving. 

16.2 Data from TMEs, Turnabout interventions and Aspire2Uni programme also shows a very 
positive picture of the value added by the Virtual School’s direct work with children, in 
terms of their wider progress – e.g. confidence, resilience, general literacy / numeracy 
and emotional wellbeing.

16.3 The educational engagement of young people open to the Youth Offending Team has 
increased significantly in 2017-2018, with the highest school attendance for several 
years. Several potential school exclusions have been avoided and YOT officers are 
increasingly skilled in supporting young people with SEND, supported by the ongoing 
training and development work driven the Pupils Not In Full Time Education (PNIFTED) 
panel. 

16.4 As always, there are areas for improvement and further development. Writing at Key 
Stage 1 is still a priority, for example, and there is still an unacceptable attainment gap at 
KS4 in particular, mirroring the historical and national picture. The discrepency between 
in-City and out-of-City attainment is a cause for concern and, while there are clear 
reasons for that gap, the Virtual School Team will continue to strengthen our support for 
Children and Young People in Care who are educated outside Wolverhampton.

16.5 To reiterate, however, we should be very proud of the achievements of our Children and 
Young People in Care and other vulnerable learners. While some of those outcomes can 
be measured in terms of academic success, many have made great strides in their wider 
development and journeys toward independence. The Children and Young People in 
Care / YOT Attainment Improvement Plan outlines how the Virtual School and its 
partners will continue to promote high standards, challenge low expectations, and strive 
to improve the life chances of the most vulnerable children.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our mission:

Working as one to 

serve our city

OFSTED Inspection at Upper 
Pendeford Farm Short Break Centre

December 2018
Presenter Rachel King

Head of Specialist Support

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 N
o: 8



Background

• Upper Pendeford Farm (UPF) provides respite 
support for up to six young people who are at 
risk of coming into care and also to children 
and young people in care who are at risk of a 
placement breakdown

• The centre is inspected by Ofsted every year.  
This is a two-day, unannounced inspection

• UPF received their most recent inspection on 
19 and 20 December 2018

P
age 44



What do Ofsted look at?

• Overall experiences and progress of children 
and young people

• How well children and young people are 
helped and protected 

• The effectiveness of leaders and managers

• Inspectors speak to the manager, staff, young 
people, parents/ carers and other relevant 
professionals e.g. social workers

P
age 45



What did Ofsted find at UPF?

Overall experiences and progress of children and young people 
- Good
“Staff have high aspirations for young people and provide an environment 
where young people can thrive and flourish.”

“Young people look forward to staying at the home and feel happy.”

“The excellent matching skills of the manager and staff mean that young 
people are in groups that help them to thrive and to feel settled.”

“….varied activities enable young people to build their social skills, friendship 
groups, self-esteem and confidence. 

“Young people have various opportunities to express their wishes and 
feelings” 

P
age 46



What did Ofsted find?

How well children and young people are helped and protected 
– Good
“The manager and staff are highly motivated and passionate in their care of 
young people. Young people receive specialist help around the risks of child 
sexual exploitation, self-harm, anti-bullying, radicalisation, knife crime, gangs 
and violence, county lines and sexual health. This multi-agency support helps 
young people to make safer decisions”

“Staff see the use of physical intervention as a last-resort measure……. staff 
use restorative practice instead to promote young people’s safety and to build 

positive relationships”

P
age 47



What did Ofsted find?

The effectiveness of leaders and managers – requires 
improvement
“Risks identified in young people’s healthcare plans are generally cross-referenced in 
their risk assessments. However, one young person’s risk assessment does not have all 
the risks identified in their health plan. This creates a missed opportunity…”

“The recruitment of most staff is safe. However, there is a lack of clear recording about 
enquiries made to chase up on staff members’ employment history”

“Staff speak highly of the manager. They feel supported by him….. the manager does 
not always monitor whether the staff are completing their mandatory training”

“The manager and senior managers breached their conditions of registration by 
agreeing to accommodate one young person to stay for more than 17 days in a single 

placement…… this decision was made because of exceptional circumstances”

P
age 48



Overall Ofsted Judgement

Ofsted found that :

The children’s home provides effective 
services that meet the requirements for 
GOOD

P
age 49



Areas of strength

• The inspector was overwhelmed by the fantastic 
work being done at UPF with young people

• Young people and parents/ carers spoke extremely 
positively about the support provided at UPF

• Good quality direct work with young people to 
address issues and build independence skills

• Young People are safe and listened to

P
age 50



Areas for improvement

• Maintenance of the building – repairs and work to the building need to be 
completed in a timely manner to ensure all hazards are avoided

• Recruitment – ensure all staff including sessional workers have 
appropriate experience, qualifications and skills to do the jobs and check 
all references 

• Risk assessments – ensure health assessments, behaviour management 
plans and risk assessments are cross referenced so that information is 
consistent

• Training – ensure all staff complete mandatory training and keep a record 
of all training completed

• Length of short break- no single short break must exceed 17 days.  

P
age 51



Thanks for listening, any 
questions?

P
age 52



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Corporate Parenting Board
24 January 2019     

Report title Performance Monitoring Information 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Paul Sweet
Children and Young People

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Director of Children’s Services

Originating service Insight and Performance Team

Accountable employee(s) James Amphlett 
Tel
Email

Business Intelligence Manager 
01902 551033
James.Amphlett2@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be considered 
by

Corporate Parenting Board 24 January 2019

Recommendation for action:

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to:

1. Confirm receipt of the report and request any additional indicators or data items that they 
would like to see reported in future performance updates.

Recommendations for noting:

The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to note:

1. The most recent performance relating to Children and Young People in Care and Care 
Leavers.

Page 53

Agenda Item No: 9



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Corporate Parenting Board on the latest 
performance relating to Children and Young People in Care and Care Leavers.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Corporate Parenting Board has regularly received a performance report. The report 
in its current format has been presented to the Board since January 2015, with some 
additions and enhancements made to the report over time at the request of the Board.

3.0 Update

3.1 All current indicators in the report have been updated with data as at 30 November 2018. 
The report has been updated in presentation as per request of the board however all 
indicators remain. Please note that this data is provisional and may not directly reflect the 
end of year outturn which will not be confirmed until statutory returns are submitted at the 
end of July.

3.2 At the request of the board, median adoption averages and a split of initial and review 
medical assessments have been added.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.
[NM/14012019/K]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.
[TS/14012019/W]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 The report contains some demographic data, however, there are no direct equalities 
implications arising from this report.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 There are no direct human resources implications arising from this report.

Page 54



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

9.0 Corporate Landlord implications

9.1 There are no direct Corporate Landlord implications arising from this report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 There are no background papers related to this report.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD

PERFORMANCE REPORT
       

JANUARY 2019
(DATA AS AT 30 NOVEMBER 2018)

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2018
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

P
age 57



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

Current LAC Profile

Demographic data has been updated with the 2016 mid-year population estimates. A considerably lower proportion of CYPiC are from BME backgrounds compared to the Wolverhampton CYP population. Wolverhampton 
also has a relatively old CYPiC population with the majority of CYPiC aged over 10. Overall there has been a slow increase ion the number of CYPiC over the past 6 months and now is higher than at any point in the 
previous year and a half. The rate of CYPiC starts is not increasing and the increase is linked to a slowing in the rate of LAC ends. A reduction is required to bring Wolverhampton in line with comparators. 

109

Current LAC per 10,0000 
population

Wolverhampton 
LAC per 10,0000

Year End 2017/18

109

West Mids LAC per 
10,0000 pop 

2017

75

Stat Neighbours LAC per 
10,0000 pop

2017

83

England LAC per 
10,0000 pop

2017

62

12.48%
4.30%

87.52%
95.70%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Current CYPiC Wolverhampton

Disability Comparison

Yes No

55.40%

44.60%
51.20% 48.80%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

Male Female

Gender Comparison

Current CYPiC Wolverhampton

17.20%

5.78%

17.20%

35.62%

24.20%

0.00%
5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%
25.00%

30.00%

35.00%
40.00%

0-3 4-5 6-9 10-14 15-18

% of current CYPiC by age

60.58%
78.50%

3.04%

36.38%
21.50%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Current CYPiC Wolverhampton

Ethnicity Comparison

White Not Obtained BME

655

770 780

655 640 644 659 653 648 641 642 648 652 654 651 657 643

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18

Number of Children and Young People in Care in Wolverhampton

P
age 58



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

                                      

Trends for placements with iIn-house’ Foster Carers show continued stronger performance. The pace of this increase has accelerated in the last quarter and number of children placed with internal foster carers is higher 
than at any point in the past 5 years. The main reason for thios increase is the 'Family Values' project that has been targeted with increasing the number of internal placements. Through this project worksteams are 
working on reducing the time taken to approve new carers, improving acessiblity to councils foster carer programme, improve retentyion of current carers, review decisons making when placing children extrenally To help 
continue this trend managers have cut the target number of days to approve foster parents from 8 to 6 months. 

The indicators that look at placement stability have remained strong in the month against a backdrop of static LAC numbers and increased adoptions. Stability generally continues to show positive results and 
demonstrates that Looked After Children in Wolverhampton benefit from stable placements. The proportion of LAC placed more than 20 miles from home has increased slightly to 16%.

2016/17  Wolverhampton = 87%
2016/17  West Midlands = 89%
2016/17  Stat Neighbours = 90%

2016/17  Wolverhampton = 71%
2016/17  West Midlands = 71%
2016/17  Stat Neighbours = 71%2014/15 = 16%

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

CYPiC Placement Analysis

2016/17 = 14%
2015/16 = 16%

241
262 271 281 275 279 266 266 266 267 278 284 282 284

266
249

229 225 227 225 226 228 224 217 215 216 217 215

58 71 84 80 78 78 79 79 79 83 90 92 86 87

183 191 187 201 197 201 187 187 187 184 188 192 196
197

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2015/16 2016/17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18

Breakdown of Foster Placements

Fostered with LA & Friends/Family Fostering - Agency Fostering - Family / Friend Fostering - LA

The number of 
CYP placed 
internally 

foster parents 
continues to 
increase to 

284.

16%

% CYPiC placed 
within 20 mile + 

from home

90%

% CYPiC with fewer
than 3 placements 
in last 12 months

64%

% CYPiC in same 
placement for 2 
years or more

43

215

87

197

22

1

20

44

3

5

4

0 50 100 150 200 250

Children's Home / School

Fostering - Agency

Fostering - Family / Friend

Fostering - LA

Independent Living

NHS / Family Centre

Placed for Adoption

Placed with Parents

Residential School

YOI / Prison / Secure

Other

Current CYPiC by Placement Type

P
age 59



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

CYPiC with an up to date assessment 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 82%
Where a new assessment has been completed within 12 months 2016/17 Year Out-turn = 83%

CYPiC with an up to date review 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 92%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 82%

CYPiC who particapted in the review 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 94%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 90%

                                      

Indicators around timeliness of assessments of Looked After Children have been developed to look at the percentage of LAC who have been assessed or re-assessed within 12 months. This indicator shows the clear 
majority of CYPiC are assessed each year. CYPiC reviews completed within timescale remain high at 94% compared to 82% in 2016-17 year out turn. The percentage of children that participated in their reviews has 
increased after lower rates of performance in early 2017-2018. Performance so far in 2018-2019 is very strong with a 97% pass rate.
46% of young people who have been looked after for more than a year and 37% who have been looked after for less than a year have had 3 or more social workers in the past 12 months

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

Assessments, Reviews, Visits

Where the First Review is within 20 working days.  Second review within 
3 months.  Third and subsequent reviews every 6 months

The proportion of CYPiC reviews where the child was present or 
contributed by other means in their review

85.77% 14.23%

Pass Fail

94.00% 6.00%

Pass Fail

97.28% 2.72%

Pass Fail

20.3

Average caseload of 
CYPiC Social Worker

103

161

135

70

28 23

1 0 1 0

35
50

21 14 13
1 0 0 0 0

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Number of Social Workers LAC have had in the past 12 months

CYPiC for more than a year CYPiC for less than a year

P
age 60



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

Maths Reading Writing Reading, Writing and Maths

39% 42% 42% 25%
76% 77% 81% 65%
41% 40% 44% 29%
40% 39% 43% 30%
41% 45% 47% 32%

GCSE A* - 
C in Eng 
& Maths

Attainment 8 Progess 8

19% 21% -1%
58% 45% 0%
19% 21% -1%
22% 19% -1%
18% 19% -1%

CYPiC with an up to date PEP

2017/18 Year Out-turn = 80%

2017/18 Year Out-turn = 51%

2017/18 Year Out-turn = 80%

The 2017 KS2 an KS4 results show that Wolverhampton LAC performed better than CYiC regionally but 
slightly below national and statistical neighbours. There remains a significant gap between the
performance of LAC and all Wolverhampton children however small numbers in the cohort can make 
these measurements volatile. For further information about the education attainment of LAC in 
Wolverhampton please refer to the Virtual School Head teacher annual report. 

Attendance data has been updated for 2017 - attendance of Wolverhampton LAC at school is better 
than that of comparators. please note there was an error in previous reports where persistent absence 
was under-reported

CYPiC West Midlands 2017
CYPiC Stat Neighbours 2017
CYPiC England 2017

The proportion eligible CYPiC with an up to date Personal Education 
Plan (PEP)

Wolverhampton 2017

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

Education

KS2  
Expected Standard

CYPiC Wolverhampton 2017
Wolverhampton 2018
CYPiC West Midlands 2017
CYPiC Stat Neighbours 2017
CYPiC England 2017

KS4

CYPiC Wolverhampton 2017

76.33% 23.67%

PEP's - All ages

Pass Fail

64.33% 35.67%

PEP's - Early Years

Pass Fail

71.22% 28.78%

PEP's Year 12 & 13

Pass Fail

Unauthorised Absence 

0.9%
West Midlands - 0.9%
Statistical Neighbours -

1.09%
England - 1.20%

Overall Absence *

3.9%
West Midlands - 4.1%

Statistical Neighbours - 3.92%
England - 4.30%

LAC Persistent 

10%
West Midlands - 9.30%
Statistical Neighbours -

9.4%
England - 10%

P
age 61



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

CYPiC with an up to date health check 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 84%
Where a health check has been completed within 12 months 2016/17 Year Out-turn = 84%

CYPiC with an up to dental check 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 91%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 89%

                                      

The percentage of children with up to date dental checks remains low although an increase was seen in November 2018. Managers are targeting this area of performance with sustained data quality work and supervision. 
Analysis is also being undertaken to see how many children have a medical check but not a dental check. Despite this decrease, the result however remains significantly higher than the 60% of children in the general 
Wolverhampton population that have seen a dentist in the past 2 years which is falling. The percentage of health checks that are up to date has increased to 86% and is favourable against year out-turn 2016-2017. 

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

Health and Dental Checks and Care Applications

Where a dental check has been completed within 12 months

87.00% 13.00%

Pass Fail

73.12% 26.88%

Pass Fail

36

46

38 39
36

51

26

52

38
32 32 34

30

00

10

20

30

40

50

60

Q1 2015-16 Q2 2015-16 Q3 2015-16 Q4 2015-16 Q1 2016-17 Q2 2016-17 Q3 2016-17 Q4 2016-17 Q1 2017-18 Q2 2017-18 Q3 2017-18 Q4 2017-18 Q1 2018-19 Q2 2018-19

Care Applications

Number of care applications Timeliness of care applications (Avg. Duration)

92.00% 8.00%

Initial Health Checks

Pass Fail

85.00% 15.00%

Review Health Checks

Pass Fail

P
age 62



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

CYPiC adopted within A1 indicator 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 60%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 46%

CYPiC adopted within A2 indicator 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 55%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 60%

CYPiC adopted within A10 indicator 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 63%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 56%

                                      

Average days for adoption timeliness has increased in the month due to four adoptions that have all taken over 1400 days. These were two sets of sibling groups that were classed as hard to place. One of these sibling 
groups were adopted by their foster parents. These adoptions have resulted in a large increase in A1 indicator.
Wolverhampton were once again rated 'double red' in the two key indicators, however, performance around adopting hard to place children including those over the age of 5 and from BME backgrounds continues to be 
better than performance nationally. Detailed analysis of the results has been undertaken and is available. Initial indicators for 2017-2018 show a similar pattern to the previous year, however an encouraging start has 
been made in 2018/2019 with 77% of adoptions within timescale.

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

Adoption

Average time between receiving court authority to place and finding a 
match

Average time between a child entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family

Average time between a child entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family (stopped at point of fostering for foster carers adoptions

55.17% 44.83%

Pass Fail

41.38% 58.62%

Pass Fail

68.97% 31.03%

Pass Fail

653

241

519
574

219

483
547

265

451

825

177

427415

131

372

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

Adoptions - A1 (Avg. Days) Adoptions - A2 (Avg. Days) Adoptions - A10 (Avg. Days)

Average Days against Adoption Indicators

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Nov-18 Median Average Nov-18

62

47

35
29

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Nov-18

Number of adoptions

P
age 63



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

Care Leavers EET Status 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 60%
2016/17 West Midlands = 46%
2016/17 Stat Neighbours = 47%
2016/17 England = 50%

Care Leavers avaliable to work 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 84%
2016/17 Year Out-turn = 82%

Care Leavers in suitable accomadation 2017/18 Year Out-turn = 88%
2016/17 West Midlands = 82%
2016/17 Stat Neighbours = 83%
2016/17 England = 84%

                                      

Care Leaver data continues to be an area of real strength for the authority. At the end of November 2018 61% of 17-21 year olds were in Education, Employment or Training. NALM (not available for the labour market). 
85% of care leavers are available for work with 15% (33 young people) not available due to pregnancy or young motherhood, Illness or disability or because they are in custody. In November 2018 this percentage 
increased to 62%. 
The proportion of care leavers currently deemed to be in suitable accommodation is also included and shows that 85% of the cohort are currently in suitable accommodation

Average time between a child entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family (stopped at point of fostering for foster carers adoptions

Corporate Parenting Report
City of Wolverhampton Council

January 2019
Produced by Insight and Performance Team

Care Leavers

Education, Employment and Training of Care Leavers aged 17-21

Average time between receiving court authority to place and finding a 
match

62.34% 37.66%

EET Not EET

85.00% 15.00%

Yes No

85.00% 15.00%

Yes No

16

54

41

2

11

17

34

16

1
5

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

EET F1 Full-time Higher
Education

EET F2 - Full-time Not Higher
Education

EET F3 - Full-time
Training/Employment

EET P2 - Part-time Not Higher
Education

EET P3 - Part-time
Training/Employment

EET G4 NALM - Illness /
Disability

EET G5 NEET - Other Reasons NALM G6 - Pregnant or young
mother

NALM G7 - Custody NULL

Current Care Leaver EET Status

P
age 64



 Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED#

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting - 22 November 2018
	5 Schedule of outstanding matters
	7 Virtual School Head Annual Report 2018
	8 OFSTED Inspection at Upper Pendeford Farm Short Break Centre December 2018
	9 Performance Monitoring Information Report
	201901_CorporateParentingReport


